
 

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
(A Subsidiary of First Citizens Investment Services Limited) 
 
 

Financial Statements 
 
30 September 2019 
 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
 
 



 

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 
 
Contents Page 

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities 1 

Independent Auditor’s Report 2 - 3 

Statement of Financial Position 4 

Statement of Income 5 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 6 

Statement of Changes in Equity 7 

Statement of Cash Flows 8 

Notes to the Financial Statements 9 – 49 

 











 

(5) 

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Income 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 
   Year ended 
   30 September 
   

  2019   2018 
  $   $ 

      

Brokerage fee and commission income   2,568,750   2,466,787 
Brokerage fee and commission expense 15  (921,652)   (117,043) 

Net brokerage fee and commission income  1,647,098   2,349,744 

Dividend income   426,321   112,550 
Gains from financial assets 16  2,269   330,984 
Investment management fees   150,000   600,000 
Other income 17  891,075   30,099,473 

Total income   3,116,763   33,492,751 
Operating expenses 18  (1,600,412)   (15,562,535) 

Profit before taxation  1,516,351   17,930,216 
Taxation 19 (324,528)   (5,389,801) 

Profit after taxation  1,191,823   12,540,415 

 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 
 Year ended 
 30 September 
 Notes 2019 2018 
   $ $ 
 
Profit for the year   1,191,823  12,540,415 
 
Change in fair value of other comprehensive income, 
  net of tax  14  2,258,894  (163,834) 
Net loss on financial assets measured at FVOCI 14  --  (9,189) 
 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   2,258,894  (173,023) 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year   3,450,717  12,367,392 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

 
Share 
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Fair Value 
Reserve 

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
 
Balance as at 1 October 2018 

          
5,000,000 

            
24,041,733  1,512,973 

      
30,554,706 

 

Profit for the year  -                    34,238   -  
             

34,238  
Other comprehensive income: -- 

              
1,191,823  --  

         
1,191,823 

Change in fair value of Other Comprehensive 
Income -- -- 2,258,894 2,258,894 

Total Comprehensive Income For The Year -- 1,191,823 2,258,894 3,450,717 

Transactions with owners:     

Ordinary dividends paid -- (6,897,227) -- (6,897,227) 

Extraordinary dividends paid -- (7,500,000) -- (7,500,000) 

Total transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity -- (14,397,227) -- (14,397,227) 

Balance as at 30 September 2019 
 

5,000,000 10,836,329 3,771,867 19,608,196 

 
 
Balance as at 1 October 2017 

5,000,000 11,501,318 1,685,996 18,187,314 

Change on initial application of IFRS 9 -- -- (9,189) (9,189) 

Restated balance as at 1 October 2017 5,000,000 11,501,318 1,676,807 18,178,125 

     

Profit for the year -- 12,540,415 -- 12,540,415 

Other comprehensive income:     

Change in fair value of Other Comprehensive 
Income 

-- -- (163,834) (163,834) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

-- 
12,540,415 (163,834) 12,376,581 

Balance as at 30 September 2018 5,000,000 24,041,733 1,512,973 30,554,706 

 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

  
Year ended 

30 September 
    

  2019  2018 
 $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit before taxation 1,516,351  17,930,216 
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash     
from operating activities:    
Depreciation 89,335  63,123 
Fair value Loss/(Gain) on financial assets (677)  26,668 
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of financial assets (1,555)  (357,652) 
Income taxes paid (2,126,144)  (5,398,366) 

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities (522,690)  12,263,989 

Net change in other debtors and prepayments (1,367,331)  4,707,936  
Net change in payables and other liabilities (4,332,201)  5,471,868  

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (6,222,222)  22,443,793 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

    
Sale proceeds of financial assets  4,740  853,697 
Purchase of property and equipment --  (344,634) 
Net change in short term investments (68,530)  (1,714,829) 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (63,790)  (1,205,766) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    
Ordinary dividends paid (6,897,227)  -- 
Extraordinary dividends paid (7,500,000)   

Net cash outflow from financing activities (14,397,227)  -- 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalent  (20,683,239)  21,238,027 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 34,758,190  13,520,163 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14,074,951  34,758,190 

    

Represented by:    
Cash at bank 13,367,852  34,060,385 
Short term deposits 707,099  697,805 

Cash and cash equivalents 14,074,951  34,758,190 

 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1 General information 
 

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and 
Tobago and its principal business includes dealing in securities on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock 
Exchange and such other business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the Securities 
Industry Act 1995 of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. 

Effective 1 October 2011, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) assumed control of the 
Company.  The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a  
77.2% controlling interest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago 
(GORTT). The remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are 
publicly traded. 

The Company’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain. 
 
 
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
a. Basis of preparation 

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS. These financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The financial statements are prepared 
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of freehold premises, fair 
value through profit and loss and fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 

 

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by 
the Company in the current period:  
 

 IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
(Amendments effective 1 January 2018). This amendments is to clarify the standard 
in relation to the accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that 
include a performance condition, the classification of share-based payment 
transactions with net settlement features, and the accounting for modifications of 
share-based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled. 
 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018).  This 
standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all 
contracts with customers. Identify the contract with the customer 

  

http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs15


First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by 
the Company in the current period: (continued) 
 
 Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
 Determine the transaction price 
 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts 

 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
 

FCBAS business operations is brokerage and financial advisors. Therefore the 
contract would be specific to the brokerage of equity investments on behalf of the 
client. Additionally FCBAS major revenue transactions are IPO commission/fees 
which are generated on the management of public offerings. FCBAS customers are 
identified based on the customer engagement with FCBAS for the management of 
their equity investments and public issues. The contracts terms and agreement in 
additions to the scope of works are agreed and approved by the relevant parties to 
the contract. The IPO contracts clearly identifies the rights and payment terms 
regarding the services to be delivered and the structure of the fees and 
commissions in the form of the consideration. Each contract has a commercial 
substance and it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it 
is entitled in exchange for the delivery of its service. The full details of contracts for 
the services is contract specific and the performance obligation for FCBAS for its 
IPO fees and commissions are genially tied to the size of the IPO. However, the 
scope of works are very structured and measured because of the various units and 
parties involved. Additionally the associated cost incurred and stage of completion 
can be used to recognised and prorate the revenues. 

 

 IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Effective 1 January 2018).    
The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers: 

 

 Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively 

 Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations 

 The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits and tax rates 

 The effect of changes in facts and circumstances 
 
  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(ii) Standards, amendment and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and have been early adopted by the Company: 

 

• IFRS 16  Leases (effective 1 January 2019).  This standard specifies how an IFRS 
reporter will recognise, present and disclose leases.  The standard provides a 
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term in 12 months and less or the 
underlying assets has a low value.  Lessors continue to classify leases as 
operating or finance. 

 
 

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not yet 
effective on the Financial Statements; we do not anticipate any material impact. 
 
 

b. Foreign currency translation 
 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 
functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago 
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. The exchange 
rate between the TT dollar and the US dollar as at the date of these statements was  
 
TT$6.6926 = US$1.00 (2018: TT$6.6926 = US$1.00), which represent the Company’s 
mid-rate. 

 
(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of income. 
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between 
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and 
other changes in the carrying amount of security. Translation differences related to 
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the profit or loss and other changes in 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation 
differences on non-monetary items such as equities classified as fair value through 
other comprehensive income financial assets are included in other comprehensive 
income. 

  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

c. Cash and due from other banks 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash     
balances on hand, deposits with other banks and short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less when purchased. 

 
d. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
  (i) Financial assets 

 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following business models:  
• Hold for trading 
• Hold to collect and sell or  
• Hold to collect 
 
Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following 
three measurement categories: 
 
Amortised cost 
 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)), and that are not designated 
at FVPL are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is 
adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described 
in note 3.a. Interest income from these financial assets – cash and due from other banks 
are included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method. 

 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the 
assets, where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, 
and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through 
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and 
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit and loss and 
recognized in “Net Investment Income”.  Financial assets in this category include unlisted 
equity instruments that are held for investment. 

 
Fair value through profit or loss 
 
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
recognised in profit or loss and presented in the “income statement within “Gains on 
investments securities” in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt 
instruments that were classified at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which 
case they are presented in Investment Interest Income. Financial assets in this category 
include listed equity instruments that are held for investment. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
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(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
  (i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Group’s Business model 
 
The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate 
cash flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors 
such as: 
 
 The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice. 

More specifically whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash 
flows from the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows 
arising from the sale of the assets.  

 Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected. 
 Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to 

key management personnel. 
 Managements identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not 

limited to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk. 
 Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and 

forecasted liquidity requirements. 
 

Arising out of the assessment the portfolios were deemed to have the business models 
identified as follows: 

 

Hold to Collect & Sell Hold for Trading 

Cash Equity Investments 

 
  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Impairment 
 
The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) 
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure 
arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Company 
recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of 
ECL reflects: 

 An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range 
of possible outcomes; 

 The time value of money; and 

 Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at 
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. 

 Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 
 
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 
 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely 
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test).  In making this assessment, the Company 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit 
risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s 
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that 
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments 
include ordinary shares. 

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or 
loss, except where the Company’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to 
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.  The Company’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those 
investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this 
election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and 
reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair 
value.   
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

e. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Equity instruments (continued) 
 
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in 
profit or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income 
Statement. 
 

(ii) Financial liabilities 
 

(a) Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 
(b) Derecognition 

 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). 
 
The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with 
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of 
existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are 
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the 
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present 
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other 
qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, 
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the 
instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an 
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an 
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss 
on the extinguishment. 
 
If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs 
or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the 
remaining term of the modified liability. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

e. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 

f. Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and 
accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest method. 
 

g. Lease transactions 
 

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.  They are divided into 
finance leases and operating leases. Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
methods of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are classified as operating 
leases.  Leases of assets where the Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. 

 
(i) The Company as the lessee 
 

The Company has entered into operating leases where the total payments made under 
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease.  When an operating lease is terminated before the period has 
expired, any penalty payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which termination takes place. 
 
When assets are held subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in 
the statement of financial position at amounts equal at inception to the fair value of the 
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.   
 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 
 
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period.  The plant and equipment acquired under finance 
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

g. Lease transactions (continued) 
 

(ii) The Company as the lessor 
 

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments 
is recognised as a receivable.  The difference between the gross receivable and the 
present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income.  Lease  
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before 
tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset 
for each period. 

 
h. Other debtors and prepayments 

 
Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances 
and related parties.  These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

 
i. Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 

 
Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land. 
 
The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to 
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows: 
 
Equipment and furniture 4-5 years 
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years 
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease 
 
The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.  
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

 
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the assets fair value less cost to sell and value in use.  Gains and losses on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are 
recognised within the income statement.  When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in fair value reserves are transferred to retained earnings. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

j. Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations, 
computer software licenses and other intangible assets.  Intangible assets are recognised at 
cost.  The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at 
the date of acquisition.  Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the 
straight line method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be 
consumed, generally not exceeding 20 years.  Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
are not amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are 
reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits.  If 
such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying 
amount is fully recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. 
 
The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
 
(i) Other Intangible assets 
 

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from 
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of 
intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future 
economic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use.  The value of 
intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined 
using income approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method. 

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for 
impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any.  They are amortised over their 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash 
flow. 

 
(ii) Computer software 
 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.  However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of 
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is 
recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.  
Computer software development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria 
are met: 

 It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it. 

 Management intends to complete the software and use it. 

 There an ability to use the software. 

 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 
to use it. 

 The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably 
measured. 

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their 
useful lives but not exceeding a period of three (3) years.  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

(19) 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

k. Employee benefits 

(i) Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan 

The FCB Group operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an 
amount of pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.  
This pension plan is funded by payments from employees and by the Company, taking 
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. 

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee 
will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and compensation. 

The liability recognised in Group’s statement of financial position in respect of defined 
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of 
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on cash outflows 
allocated to current or prior periods using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. In 
countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on 
government bonds are used. 

(ii) Profit sharing and bonus plans 

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, 
based on a formula that takes into consideration the Group’s profit before taxation. The 
Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

(iii) Employee stock option plan 

The Group operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees.  A 
liability is recognised for the fair value of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is 
measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, 
with changes in the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair value is 
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding 
liability. 

 
l. Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class 
of the obligation as a whole.  A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
l. Provisions (continued) 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

m. Payables and other liabilities 

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business 
related expenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is 
expected within one year.  Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs 

n. Income taxes 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the 
Company operates and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of 
financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis. 

o. Fee and commission income 

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that 
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The performance obligations 
is very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private 
placements, portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio 
management. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
o. Fee and commission income (continued) 

 
Fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the service has been provided. 
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a 
transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other 
securities or the purchase or sale of businesses are recognised at a point in time on 
completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and 
service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts usually on a time 
apportioned basis, which is normally on a monthly billing cycle at a point in time. 
 
Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period 
the service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales.  The same 
principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are 
continuously provided over an extended period of time.  Performance linked fees or fee 
components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled at a point in time.  
 
Brokerage & Advisory fees are generally recognized at a point in time upon full completion of 
the scope of works to the contract, however, for Initial Public Offerings and services of that 
nature the performance obligation maybe specific to the stage of completion of the services 
performance obligation. In addition some contracts may require variation to the performance 
obligation based on the client specifications. These contract would qualify for revenue 
recognition over time.  
 
The impact from the transition to IFRS 15 as at September 30th, 2019 is Nil. 
 

p. Investment management fees 
 

From October 2011, management fees related to the provision of portfolio and other 
management advisory services are recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level 
Agreement between the Company and its parent which is reviewed annually. This agreement 
covers the provision of the advisory services. 
 

q. Interest income and expense 
 

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest 
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on the initial 
carrying amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and 
deposits.  

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) 
or the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit 
losses and include transaction cost, premium, discounts and fees and point paid or received 
that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. 
 
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result 
of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cashflows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

r. Dividend income 
 
Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Company's right to receive 
payment is established. 

 
s. Dividend distribution 
 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are 
approved by the Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year- 
end, are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable. 
 

t. Fiduciary activities 
 

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or 
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other 
institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial 
statements, as they are not assets of the Company.  
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3 Financial risk management 

 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the 
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. 
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable 
consequence of being in business. The Company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate 
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial 
performance. 
 
The Company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of 
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management 
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 
 
Risk management framework 
 
The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Group) has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.  To assist the Board of 
Directors in fulfilling its duties, two Board sub-committees were established at the First Citizens 
Group level to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First 
Citizens Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit 
Committee, and one management level committee - Asset Liability Committee. 

 
The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer, reports to 
both sub-committees of the Board.  They are responsible for the management, measurement, 
monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Group through the Group 
Operational Risk & Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk and Administration Unit, Group Market Risk 
Unit and Group Business Continuity Planning Unit. The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit 
reports into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee to allow monitoring of the 
adherence to risk limits and the impact of developments in the aforementioned risk areas on 
strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the developments. 

 
The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and 
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates and other factors that can affect the Group’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to 
acceptable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and 
liabilities across the Bank and the Group’s various companies via the Group’s Treasury and 
International Trade Centre. The Group Treasury and International Trade Centre’s primary role and 
responsibility is to actively manage the Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also 
supported in some specific areas of activity by the Bank’s Market Risk Committee. 
 
As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as 
well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
financial instruments.  In addition, the Group Internal Audit Department is responsible for the 
independent review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and 
recommendation to the Board Audit Committee. 
 
The Board of Directors of the FCIS Group has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the FCIS Group’s risk management framework.  The Board of FCIS has also 
established a Risk Management Committee (RMC) which oversees the risk management function 
of the FCIS Group. 
 
The most important types of risk are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and other operational risk. 
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.  
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2 Financial risk management (continued) 

a. Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing 
to discharge an obligation.  The Company generally does not provide advances to customers 
nor does it invest in debt securities. As a result, its exposure to credit risk is limited to other 
registered brokers and client accounts that are substantively supported by underlying 
securities.  At 30 September 2019, the Company had no financial assets which were either 
impaired or past due. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

 
Credit risk exposure relating to on-statement of financial position assets are as follows: 
    
 2019 

$ 
 2018 

$ 

Cash and due from other banks   19,574,052   
 

40,188,761 
Other debtors   404,498   503,753  

 19,978,550  40,692,514 

 
There were no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items. 

 
(i) Credit risk management 
 

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an organisational 
structure which supports the lending philosophy of the Group.  This structure 
comprises the Board of Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior 
Management Enterprise Risk Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer 
(GCRO), the Group Credit Risk Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department.  
The Board of Directors maintains general oversight to ensure that policies and 
procedures are consistent with the strategic direction and credit philosophy of the 
Group and that they serve to bring the required level of protection over assets that are 
exposed to credit risks.  To facilitate day to day decision making and timely 
implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for specific areas to 
specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to the Board.  
The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions 
amendments to credit policies, delegation of lending authority to senior management 
and credit requests exceeding the authority of management.  The SMERC together 
with the GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may 
direct changes to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies.  The major focus 
of the Credit Risk Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance 
with them and on a continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing 
business environment.  Most of these policies are established and communicated 
through the Group’s written Credit Policy Manual.  This document sets out in detail the 
current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive 
framework for prudent risk management of the credit function.  Major areas of focus 
are General Credit Policy Guidelines, Exercise of Lending Authority, Credit Review 
Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among others. 

  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

(25) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

a. Credit risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk measurement (continued) 
 

(a) Other assets 
 

The Company exposure to credit risk is the outstanding amounts due from clients 
and brokerage company which are settled within three working days following 
month end.  
 

(iii) Expected credit loss measurement 
 

IFRS9 outlines a ‘three stage’ mode; for impairment based on changes in credit quality 
since initial recognition as summarized below: 

 
 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 

Stage 1 and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. 
 

 If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, 
the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. 

 

 If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved 
to ‘Stage 3’. 

 

 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to 
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses within the next 12 months. Instruments 
in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a 
lifetime basis. 

 

 A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should 
consider forward- looking information. 

 
 Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets 

that are credit- impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a 
lifetime basis (Stage 3). 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

a. Credit risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Expected credit loss measurement (continued) 
 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other 
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets): 

 

Change in credit quality since initial recognition 

 
 

 

 
 
 

   
 
   

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

(initial Recognition) (Significant increase in 
credit risk) (Credit - impaired assets) 

   
12 month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit 

losses 
Lifetime expected credit 

losses 
  

Investments 
 

Criteria Investment Grade Portfolio Single “B” Speculative Grade 
Portfolio 

Absolute Measure PD- 12.5% or lower PD -25% or lower 

AND AND AND 

Relative Measure Credit rating reverts to level just prior 
being deemed an having an SICR 

One notch downgrade (internal 
rating scale) 

OR OR OR 

Special Consideration No credit stop loss breaches  No credit stop loss breaches 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

a. Credit risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Definition of default and credit-impaired assets 
 

 The FCB Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with 
the definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria: 

 
 Quantitative criteria 
 The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. 

 
Qualitative criteria 
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in 
significant financial difficulty. These are instances where: 

 The borrower formally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of 

foreclosure proceedings. 

 The obligation is classified Doubtful or worse as per the Group’s classification 

process. 

 A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not 

normally be considered is executed 

 Restructure proceedings or an indication of the intention to restructure is initiated 

by the issuer (investments only). 

 
The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and 
are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management 
purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability 
of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout 
the Group’s expected loss calculations. 
 

(v) Risk limit control and mitigation policy 
 

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the 
amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, groups of borrowers, industry and 
country segments.  The Group monitors its concentration of credit exposure so that no 
single borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Group.  These 
limits are implemented and monitored by the Credit Risk Management Unit via the 
stipulations of the Group Credit Policy Manual.  In instances where it is strategically 
beneficial and adequately documented, the Group would seek approval on an exception 
basis for variation to its standard approved limits from the Board of Directors. 

 

(a) Industry exposure limits 

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various 
industries.  The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Group for this 
purpose.  The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to 8 with 1 being the 
least risky.  These have been consolidated into four (4) bands of exposure limits 
which have been set in relation to the total credit portfolio with a relatively smaller 
limit being assigned to the more risky industries. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

a. Credit risk (continued) 
 

(v) Risk limit control and mitigation policy (continued) 
 

 (b) Country exposure limits 

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered 
to be within the Group’s off-shore target market.  Five risk categories have been 
developed and the selected countries have been assigned to these categories 
based either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Group’s own 
internal assessment of the economic and political stability of the target.  Maximum 
cross border exposure has been limited to a pre-determined portion of total assets 
and this amount is allocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being 
allocated to the more highly rated categories. 
 

(c) Collateral 

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The 
most common of these is accepting collateral for funds advanced. The Group has 
internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk 
mitigation. 
 
The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed significantly 
during the period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of 
the collateral held by the Group since the prior period. 

 
(vi) Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancement 

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows: 
 
 Gross 

maximum 
exposure 

2019 
$’000 

 Gross 
maximum 
exposure 

2018 
$’000 

 
Cash and due from Other Banks 19,574,052  40,188,761 
Financial assets    
- Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income 5,602,800  2,375,808 
- Fair value through profit or loss 146,386  148,893 
Other assets 404,498  503,753 

 25,727,736  43,217,215 

 
The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the 
Company as at 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018, without taking account of 
any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out 
above are based on gross carrying amounts before impairment. There are no credit 
risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.  
As shown above, of the total maximum exposure is derived from cash and due from 
other banks and receivables is 67% (September 2018: 94%); while 33% represents 
investments (September: 6%). 
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3. Financial risk management (continued) 

a. Credit risk (continued) 

 
Write-off policy 

 
The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical 
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and 
(ii) where the group’s effort to dispose of repossess collateral is such that there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering in full.  

 
The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The 
outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 30 
September 2019 was $55,999.32 (2018: nil). The Company still seeks to recover amounts it is 
legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation 
of full recovery. 

 
(viii) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure – Geographical 

sectors 
 
The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying 
amounts, as categorised by geographical region as of 30 September 2019. For this 
table, the Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of 
domicile of its counterparties. The Company’s investment portfolio comprising cash and 
cash equivalents, financial assets – Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income, 
Fair value through Profit and Loss and Other Assets and Receivables domiciled within 
the Caribbean. Limits for each country are reviewed on an annual or more frequent 
basis and the exposures are monitored on a daily basis. The country exposures are 
categorised into one regional sector and the sector concentration within the portfolio is 
as follows: 
 

 Caribbean  Total 

 $’000  $’000 

At 30 September 2019    

Cash and due from other banks 19,574,052  19,574,052 

Other assets and receivables 404,498  404,498 

As at 30 September 2019 19,978,550  19,978,550 

    

    

 
Caribbean  Total 

$’000  $’000 

At 30 September 2018    

Cash and due from other banks 40,188,761  40,188,761 

Other assets and receivables 503,753  503,753 

As at 30 September 2018 40,692,514  40,692,514 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
b. Market risk 

 
The Company takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risks arise from open positions in equity products which are exposed to general and specific 
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of equity prices. The Company 
separates exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios. 
 
The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the 
Group Market Risk Unit who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk 
Committee on a regular basis and also reports via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board 
Enterprise Risk Committee to enable Board oversight of market risk issues. 
 
Additionally, on a monthly basis, the Bank’s Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the 
yield curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO. 
This Committee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that 
may be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time. 
 
Additionally, on a monthly basis, the FCIS Group Risk Management Committee reviews and 
approves the prices all investment securities which are valued using valuation techniques. 
Trading portfolios include those portfolios arising from market-making transactions where the 
Group acts as a principal with clients or with the market.  Trading portfolios are those positions 
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains. 
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest-rate management of the Group’s retail 
and commercial banking assets and liabilities. 

 
Non-trading portfolios also consist of interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks arising 
from the Company’s financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 
As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to 
capital as the basis for controlling market risk. 
 
As at 30 September 2019, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk 
represented 50% of capital (30 September 2018: 50%). 
 

(i) Currency risk sensitivity 
  

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.  As at 30 September 2019, 
the Company had 19% cash and due from other banks (30 September 2018: 8%) and 0.45% 
liabilities (30 September 2018: 0.23%) denominated in a foreign currency. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

b. Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Currency risk sensitivity (continued) 
 
Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2019 the effect of a 2.5% 
depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the respective currencies is as 
follows: 
 

 USD JMD BBD 

 $ $ $ 

At 30 September 2019    

Loss (92,429) (3,104) (75) 

    

At 30 September 2018    

Loss (79,703) (3,100) (48) 

    

The effect of a 2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the US dollar 
would reduce Net income after tax by 8% (2018: 1%). 
 
The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk in the following table illustrates how 
changes in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting 
period.  For the sensitivity analysis, a 5% movement in USD to TTD exchange rates was 
used for 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018. 
 

 Effects on shareholders’ equity 
 Year ended Year ended 
 30 September 2019 30 September 2018 
 + 5% - 5% + 5% - 5% 
 $ $ $ $ 

 
Effects on shareholders’ equity 189,479  (189,479)  163,391  (163,391) 
 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the 
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits 
on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are 
monitored periodically. The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities 
to mitigate currency risk. The Company’s strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and 
sell high; establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign 
exchange exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and 
match foreign currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities.  
The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency 
risk.The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange 
rate risk at September. Included in the table are the Company’s financial instruments at 
carrying amounts, categorised by currency. 

  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
30 September 2019 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

(32) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

b. Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

 

 
  

At September 30 2019 TT US JMD BBD Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

Assets      
Cash and due from other 
banks 15,768,027 3,678,746 127,279 -- 19,574,052 
Financial assets      
- Fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income 5,602,800 -- -- -- 5,602,800 
- Fair value through profit or 
loss 265 146,121 -- -- 146,386 
Other Assets & Receivables 403,829 669 -- -- 404,498 

Total 21,774,921 3,825,536 127,279 -- 25,727,736 

      
Liabilities      
Other liabilities and accrued 
expenses 7,201,250 35,950 -- (3,067) 7,234,133 

Total liabilities  7,201,250 35,950 -- (3,067) 7,234,133 

Net on-balance sheet 
financial position 14,573,671 3,789,586 127,279 3,067 18,493,603 

      
      

      

At September 30 2018 TT US JMD BBD Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

Assets      
Cash and due from other banks 36,906,788 3,155,624 126,349 -- 40,188,761 
Financial assets      
- Fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income 2,375,808 -- -- -- 2,375,808 
- Fair value through profit or loss 4,830 144,063 -- -- 148,893 

Other Assets & Receivables 502,986 -- 767 -- 503,753 

Total 39,790,412 3,299,687 127,116 -- 43,217,215 

      
Liabilities      

Other liabilities and accrued 
expenses 13,347,957 31,873 -- (1,975) 13,377,855 

Total liabilities 13,347,957 31,873 -- (1,975) 13,377,855 

Net on-balance sheet financial 
position 26,442,455 3,267,814 127,116 (1,975) 29,839,360 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

b. Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income 
resulting from changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-
pricing between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk 
is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 
market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may 
increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce resulting in losses in the 
event that unexpected movements arise. The Company’s objective in the management 
of its interest rate risk is to reduce the sensitivity of its earnings and overall portfolio 
value to fluctuations in the interest rate. The strategy employed to achieve this involves 
the active pricing of diversifying portfolios in accordance with market trends and 
reducing funding mismatch through long-term instruments. The table below 
summarises the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Company’s 
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual 
repricing or maturity dates. 

 

Interest rate maturities  
Up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

1 - 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Non-
interest 
Bearing Total 

At 30 September 2019 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets        
Cash and due from 
other banks 

 
13,367,852 -- 

 
6,206,200 -- -- -- 

 
19,574,052 

Total  
 

13,367,852 -- 
 

6,206,200 -- -- -- 
 

19,574,052 

 

Interest rate maturities  
Up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

1 - 5 
years 

Over  5 
years 

Non-
interest 
Bearing Total 

At 30 September 2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets        
Cash and due from 
other banks 33,836,185 -- 6,128,376 -- -- 224,200 40,188,761 

Total  33,836,185 -- 6,128,376 -- -- 224,200 40,188,761 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

b. Market risk (continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

If interest rates were to move by 1% the impact on net interest income will be $852 
(2018: $769) 

 
c. Price risk 
 

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to 
the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.  The Company is affected by changing prices of equity 
instruments mainly classified as fair value through other comprehensive income securities 
with fair value movements recognised in shareholders’ equity.  Management has determined 
that the impact of the price risk on equity instruments classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income is immaterial at the end of both periods reported. 
 
The sensitivity analysis for price risk below illustrates how changes in the fair value of the 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes to prices at the 
end of the reporting period. Other than assets categorised as investment securities which are 
carried at fair value, the carrying value of all other financial assets and liabilities as presented 
on the statement of financial position is not significantly different from their fair value. 
 
For the sensitivity analysis, a 10% movement in prices was used for 30 September 2019 and 
30 September 2018: (10%). 
 

 Effects on profit before tax 
 Year ended Year ended 
 30 September 2019 30 September 2018 
 + 10% - 10% + 10% - 10% 
 $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets: 
-Fair value through other  560,280  (560,280)  237,581  (237,581) 
 Comprehensive income  
-Fair value through profit or loss  14,639  (14,639)  14,889  (14,889) 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

d. Liquidity risk 
 
The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash 
or its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall 
due under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The 
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows 
are generally settled within three to thirty days.  
 
Liquidity risk management process 
 
The Group’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International 
Trade Centre and monitored by the Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). The Group’s 
liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate reserves of cash 
and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising from either on-
statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities. The Group relies on 
a broad range of funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue concentration.  
Current and projected cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of funding and 
contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.  

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Group Market Risk Unit and 
reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Group Enterprise Risk Unit to the 
Board Enterprise Risk Committee. 

The Company’s financial liabilities are all payable within 1 month as at the statement of financial 
position date. 
 

e. Off-statement of financial position items 
 

(i) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 

As of 30 September 2019, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial 
facilities that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (2018: nil). 

 
(ii) Capital commitments 

The Company had no capital commitments as at 30 September 2019 (2018: nil). 
 

(iii) Operating lease commitments 

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2019 
(2018: nil). 

 
f. Operational risk 

 
Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud and 
external events. The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the 
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost 
effectiveness and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing standards and 
guidelines in the following areas: 
 

 Appropriate segregation of duties and access. 

 Reconciling and monitoring of transactions. 

 Documentation of controls and procedures. 

 Training and development of staff.  
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

f. Operational risk (continued) 
 

 Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions. 

 Development of contingency plans. 

 Information security. 

 Assessments of the processes. 

 Business continuity planning 
 

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 

(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial 
assets presented on the statement of financial position at an amount other than their fair 
value. 

 
 Carrying value Fair value 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets     

Cash and due from 
other banks 19,574,052 40,188,761 19,574,052 40,188,761 

Other debtors’ 404,498 503,753 404,498 503,753  

 19,978,550 40,692,514 19,978,550 40,692,514 

Financial liabilities     

Other liabilities 7,234,133 13,377,855 7,234,133 13,377,855 

 
The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are determined in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. 
 
Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value 
 
Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial 
instruments approximate their fair values. 

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include 
cash and due from other banks, financial assets (fair value through other comprehensive 
income and fair value through profit or loss) and other debtors. 
 
Cash and due from other banks 
 
This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of 
these short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued) 
 

Receivables 
 

Receivables are net of provisions for impairment.  The estimated fair value of 
receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected 
to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to 
determine fair value. As at the date of these financial statements the ECL for the 
receivables is nil.  

 
Amortised cost 
 
Fair value for Amortised Cost assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price 
quotations.  Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using a 
discounted cash flow valuation methodology where all cash-flows of the instruments 
are discounted at an appropriate yield plus a credit spread where applicable.  The fair 
value of the held-to-maturity portfolio is computed for disclosure purposes only.  There 
are no observable prices for these instruments and as such they are considered level 3 
instruments. There were no investments held at amortised cost to Sept 2019 (Sept 
2018: nil). 
 
Bank overdraft 
 
The fair values of bank overdraft is equal to its carrying value as such instruments are 
subject to floating rates of interest which reset on a daily, monthly or quarterly basis. 

 
(ii) Fair value hierarchy 

 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to 
these valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  Observable inputs reflect 
market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the 
Company’s market assumptions.  These two types of inputs have created the following 
fair value hierarchy: 
 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices).  This level includes debt instruments. 

 Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs).  This level includes equity investments and debt 
instruments with significant unobservable components. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(ii) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at 
fair value at: 

As at 30 September 2019 
 Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
-Fair value through Other   
Comprehensive Income 

-- -- 5,602,800 5,602,800 

-Fair value through Profit and Loss 146,386 -- -- 146,386  

Total 146,386 -- 5,602,800 5,749,186  

 
As at 30 September 2018 
 Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$ 
Total 

$ 
-Fair value through Other   
Comprehensive Income  -- -- 2,375,808 2,375,808 
-Fair value through Profit and Loss  148,893 -- -- 148,893 

Total 148,893 -- 2,375,808 2,524,701 

 
h. Capital management 

 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 
‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position are: 

 

 To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets 
where the Company operates; 

 To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company’s 
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required 
information is filed with the Authority on a regular basis as required. 
 
The Authority requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory 
capital of five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. During those two periods, the Company 
complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject. 
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 
 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are outlined below: 

 
a. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated by the Group as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. 
 
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading. 

 
For financial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of 
financial assets and liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 

 
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily 
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or 
regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is 
regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-
offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent 
transactions. When a market becomes inactive, the valuation technique utilised makes use of 
the quoted price even though the market is not active. 
 

b. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): 

The Group uses the discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of Financial 
Assets through other comprehensive income not traded in active markets. The discounted 
cash flow method discounts the cash-flows of the financial assets at an appropriate yield plus 
a credit spread where applicable.  
 
The Company’s financial assets at Fair value through other comprehensive income 
represents equity shares held for Investments. The share price is determined using a 
projected dividend growth in the Dividend Discount Model (DDM), which values a share price 
based on its predicted future dividend payments and discounting them back to present value. 
The expected growth rate is calculated using a five year trend of return of equity by the 
payout ratio for the dividends received.  
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued) 
 

c. Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions 
about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting 
and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used 
in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.a.v, which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL 
to changes in these elements. 

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for 
measuring ECL, such as: 

 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 

product/market and the associated ECL; and 
 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 
 
Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is 
set out in note 3.a.vi. 

d. Income taxes 
 
Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the 
period in which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly where the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain, management also obtains opinions or advice from leading tax 
advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures. 

The Company is subject to income tax in variance jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis of the 
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive enactment is 
considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not change the outcome 
of a proposed change in tax law. Management considers the legislative process applicable in each 
jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a proposed change in tax law will be 
considered substantively enacted by identifying the point after which further steps in the enactment 
process will not affect the outcome of the proposed change.  The Corporation tax rate for Trinidad 
and Tobago was 30% in 2019 (2018:30%). 

 
 
e. Fees and commissions 

 
The standard outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 does not distinguish between revenue from sales of goods 
and services or construction contracts. Instead, it defines transactions based on performance 
obligations satisfied over time or at a point in time.  The core underlying principle is that an entity 
should recognise revenue in a manner that depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services 
to customers. The amount recognised should reflect the amount to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. 
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued) 
 
e. Fees and commissions (continued) 
 

 

Revenue 
type  

Allocate the 
transaction price to 
separate 
performance 
obligations 

Recognise revenue 
when (or as) each 
performance obligation 
is satisfied 

Timing of 
revenue 
recognition  

Impact from 
adopting 
IFRS15 

Capital 
markets  

Revenue are 
recognized at a point 
in time upon full 
completion of the 
scope of works to the 
contract  

There is not separation of 
performance obligation  

Completion 
of full service 
at a point in 
time  

Nil 

Wealth 
Management  

Revenue are 
recognized at a point 
in time upon full 
completion of the 
scope of works to the 
contract  

There is not separation of 
performance obligation  

Completion 
of full service 
at a point in 
time 

Nil 

Brokerage & 
Advisory  

For general 
Brokerage and 
Advisory revenues 
are recognized at a 
point in time upon full 
completion of the 
scope of works to the 
contract, however, for 
Initial Public offerings 
the performance 
obligation maybe 
specific to stage of 
completion of the 
services delivered 

The separation of the 
performance obligation 
would be specific to the 
engagement and 
agreement with the client  

For IPO fees 
it would be 
based on 
separation 
based on 
performance 
obligation as 
be the 
contact, this 
would be 
over time. 

As at 
September 
30th 2019 the 
impact on the 
adopting of 
IFRS15 would 
be Nil 
because there 
were no 
contract in of 
that nature at 
the balance 
sheet date. 

Pension 
Fund & 
Private 
Portfolio  

Revenue are 
recognized at a point 
in time upon full 
completion of the 
scope of works to the 
contract  

There is not separation of 
performance obligation  

Completion 
of full service 
at a point in 
time 

Nil 

Other  Revenue are 
recognized at a point 
in time upon full 
completion of the 
scope of works to the 
contract  

There is not separation of 
performance obligation  

Completion 
of full service 
at a point in 
time 

Nil 

 
 The impact from the transition to IFRS 15 as at September 30th, 2019 is Nil. 
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5 Cash and due from Other Banks 

 2019  2018 

 $  $ 

    

Cash at bank 13,367,852  34,060,385 

Short term deposit 6,206,200  6,128,376 

 19,574,052  40,188,761 

 

 2019  2018 

 $  $ 

Short-term investments:    

- Maturity within 3 months 707,099  697,805 

- Maturity over 3 months 5,499,101  5,430,571 

 6,206,200  6,128,376 

 
The average effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 1.18% in September 2019 (2018: 
1.23%); these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days (2018: 90 days). The average 
effective interest rate on investments with a maturity of over 3 months (365 days) is 1.57% (2018: 
1.70%). 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow: 
 
    
Cash and bank balances 13,367,852  34,060,385 
Short-term investments – maturity within three months 707,099  697,805 

Cash and cash equivalents 14,074,951  34,758,190 

 
 
6 Financial assets through other comprehensive income 
 

- Listed --  -- 
- Unlisted        5,602,800   2,375,808 

 
            

5,602,800   2,375,808 

 
The movement in financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income may be 
summarised as follows: 

 

At beginning of year  2,375,808  2,639,394 

Gains/(Losses) from changes in fair value  3,226,992  (247,176) 

Fair value through Profit and Loss --  (16,410) 

At end of year 5,602,800  2,375,808 
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7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 

Equity securities    

- Listed 146,386  148,893 

 
 
The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows: 
 

At beginning of year 148,893  655,195 
Disposals (4,740)  (496,044) 
(Losses)/Gains from changes in fair value (Note 16) 2,269  (26,668) 
Assets written off (36)  -- 
Reclassification of Other comprehensive income to  
Fair value through profit and loss --  16,410 

At end of year 146,386  148,893 

 
The above securities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management strategy, and information about the groups of 
financial instruments is reported to management on that basis. 

 
 
8 Other debtors and prepayments 
 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
 

Due from brokers 309,288 
 

456,181 
Due from clients 80,688  56 
Other debtors 14,522  47,516 
Prepayments 39,097  7,651 

 443,595  511,404 

  
 As at the date of these financial statements, the ECL on these receivables is nil. 
 
 
9 Intangible assets 
 

The Company purchased 10 Class “A” shares in the TTSE in 2001. This purchase gave the 
Company the right to conduct brokerage operations on the TTSE. In 2012, these shares were 
converted to 110,400 ordinary shares due to a restructuring at the TTSE. The cost of the right 
obtained is presented as an intangible asset. Although there is no active market for the right, the 
intangible asset is reviewed annually for impairment. 
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10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
Computer 
equipment  

Office 
equipment, 
furniture & 

motor vehicles Total 
 $ $ $ 

Year ended 30 September 2019    

Opening net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514 

Additions -- -- -- 

Disposals -- -- -- 
Depreciation on disposals -- -- -- 
Depreciation charge (6,830) (82,505) (89,335) 

Closing net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179 

    

At 30 September 2019    

Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267 

Accumulated depreciation (26,081) (110,007) (136,088) 

Net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179 

    

Year ended 30 September 2018    

Opening net book value 5,204 29,799 35,003 
Additions 14,615 330,019 344,634 
Disposals -- (178,798) (178,798) 
Depreciation on disposals -- 178,798 178,798 
Depreciation charge (5,822) (57,301) (63,123) 

Closing net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514 

    

At 30 September 2018    

Cost 33,248 330,019  363,267 
Accumulated depreciation (19,251) (27,502) (46,753) 

Net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514 

    

At 30 September 2017    

Cost 18,633 178,798 197,431 
Accumulated depreciation (13,429) (148,999) (162,428) 

Net book value 5,204 29,799 35,003 
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11 Payables and other liabilities 
 2019  2018 
 $  $ 
    
Due to brokers 344,446  6,268,802 
Due to clients 5,280,286  2,650,386 
Due to related parties 1,609,401  4,082,285 
Tax Payable --  376,382 

 7,234,133  13,377,855 

 
The Corporation tax payable for 30 September 2019 was nil (2018: $376,382) 

 
 
12 Deferred income tax assets 
 

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 30%. 

 
The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

 

 2019  2018 

 $  $ 
    
At beginning of year  457,390   511,889 
Statement of income charge (Note 19)  9,905   19,656 
Fair value reserve (Note 14) 968,098  (74,155) 

At end of year 1,435,393  457,390 

 

 

Opening 
balance 

1 October  
2018 

Fair value 
reserve 

Charged to 
statement of 

income 

Closing 
balance 

30 September  
2019 

Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss (160,357) -- (203) (160,560) 
     
Accelerated tax depreciation (93,659) -- 10,108 (83,551) 

Net deferred income tax asset (254,016) -- 9,905 (244,111) 

     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Prior period change in Tax 147,485 -- -- 147.485 
Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss 563,921 968,098 -- 1,532,019 

Deferred income tax liability 711,406 968,098 -- 1,679,504 

Net deferred income tax liability 457,390 968,098 9,905 1,435,393 
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12 Deferred income tax assets (continued) 
 

 

Opening 
balance 

1 October  
2017 

Fair value 
reserve 

Charged to 
statement of 

income 

Closing 
balance 

30 September 
2018 

Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss (168,366) -- 8,009 (160,357) 
Accelerated tax depreciation (105,306) -- 11,647 (93,659) 

Net deferred income tax asset (273,672) -- 19,656 (254,016) 

     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Prior period change in Tax 147,485 -- -- 147,485 
Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss 638,076 (74,155) -- 563,921 

Deferred income tax liability 785,561 (74,155) -- 711,406 

Net deferred income tax liability 511,889 (74,155) 19,656 457,390 

 
 
13 Share capital 2019 2018 
  $ $ 

Authorised 
An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value 

Issued and fully paid 

5,000,000 ordinary shares of no par 5,000,000  5,000,000 

 
 
14 Fair value reserve 2019 2018 
  $ $ 

Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income 3,771,867  1,512,973 

 
Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income    

At beginning of year 1,512,973  1,685,996 

Net gains from changes in fair value 3,226,992  (247,178) 
Deferred tax charge (Note 12) (968,098)  74,155 

At end of year 3,771,867  1,512,973 
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15 Brokerage fee and commission expense  
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
 

Commission sharing expenses 818,898  17,979 

Commission rebate 51,377  49,532 

Compensation fund contribution 51,377  49,532 

 921,652  117,043 

 
The business entered into a new commission sharing agreement with internal stakeholders, which 
has resulted in an increase in commission sharing expenses in 2019: $674,383.44 (2018: nil). 

 
 
16 Gains/(losses) from financial assets 

Gain / (Loss) from changes in fair value  677  (26,668) 
Gain on sale of financial assets 1,592  357,652 

 2,269  330,984 

 
 
17 Other income 
 

Interest income 85,174  76,929 
Other fees and commissions 54,089  4,022,515 
Capital market fee income 751,945  26,000,000 
Net foreign exchange gain (133)  29 

 891,075  30,099,473 

 
Included within other income are application, processing and sub-distribution fees earned for 
services provided relating to capital market and structuring transactions. 

 
 
18 Operating expenses 
 

Staff costs  942,457  830,704  
Other expenses 228,355  254,652  
Depreciation 89,335  63,123  
Computer operating expenses 71,026  52,528  
Audit fees 147,656  141,750  
Legal and professional fees 81,907   79,577  
Travel and entertainment 66,815  42,050  
Directors emoluments 134,415  134,413  
Capital market expenses (161,554)  13,963,738  

 1,600,412  15,562,535 

 
Capital market expenses for 2019 reflects a net recovered amount for over accrued fees from 2018 
for IPO fees. 
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18 Operating expenses (continued)  2019 2018 
  $ $ 

Staff costs 
 

Wages and salaries 716,274  611,299 
National Insurance 30,703  28,725 
Bonus and commissions 110,859  119,383 
Health plan expense 6,686  6,474 
Pension plan expense 73,953  64,823 
Staff training 3,982  -- 

 942,457  830,704 

 
The number of permanently employed staff as at the year-end was 2 (2018: 2). 

 
 
19 Taxation 2019 2018 
  $ $ 
 

Deferred tax (Note 12) 9,905  19,656 
Corporation tax 342,346  5,370,145 
Prior year under/(over) provision (27,723)  -- 

 324,528  5,389,801 

 
The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the basic rate of tax as follows: 

 

Profit before tax  1,516,351  17,930,216 

    

Tax calculated at 30% 454,905  5,379,065 

Prior year under/(over) provision (27,723)   
Income exempt from tax (142,357)  (8,000) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 29,595  29,905 
Net effect of other charges and allowances 10,108  (11,169) 

 324,528  5,389,801 
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20 Related party transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.  The parent of 
the Company as at 30 September 2019 was First Citizens Investment Services Limited. First 
Citizens Investment Services Limited is incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago with its ultimate parent 
company being First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Government of the 
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT).  A number of transactions are entered into with related 
parties in the normal course of business.  These generally relate to purchase and sale of shares on 
behalf of related parties. 

 Directors  
Related 

companies 

 
30 

September 
30 

September 
30 

September 
30 

September 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 

 $ $ $ $ 

Statement of income     

Fees and commission income -- -- 74,939 67,367 

Salaries and other short-term 
employee benefits (134,415) (134,413) -- -- 

 (134,415) (134,413) 74,939 67,367 

     
Statement of financial position 

amounts due (to)/from     

Cash and due from other banks -- -- 18,739,570 37,464,905 

Payables and other liabilities -- -- (1,609,402) (4,082,285) 

 -- -- 17,130,168 33,382,620 

 
 
21 Commitments 
 

The Company has no capital or credit commitments as at 30 September 2019 (2018: nil). 
 
 
22 Contingent liabilities 
 

The Company is not involved in any claims and counterclaims arising from the conduct of its business. 
 
 
23 Subsequent events 
 

There were no events after the financial position date which were material to the financial statements 
and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statement or disclosures when the financial 
statements were authorised for issue. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, 100902,  Trinidad, West Indies 
T: (868) 299 0700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwc.com/tt  

Independent auditor’s report 

To the shareholders of 
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 

Our opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First 
Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September 2021, and its 
f inancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  

What we have audited 

The Company’s financial statements comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2021; 

• the statement of income for the year then ended; 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have 
fulf illed our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
f ree f rom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
f raud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
ef fectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
 
 
Port of Spain 
Trinidad, West Indies 
23 November 2021 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Income 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 
   Year ended 
   30 September 

 Notes 2021   2020 
  $   $ 

      

Brokerage fee and commission income 15 2,789,460   2,751,274 

Brokerage fee and commission expense 16 (1,189,111)   (1,267,876) 

Net brokerage fee and commission income  1,600,349   1,483,398 

Dividend income  58,597   291,458 
Unrealised loss on financial assets 17 (20,819)   (19,359) 
Fees, commission and other income 18 2,439,927   2,688,726 

Total income  4,078,054   4,444,223 
Operating expenses 19 (2,748,066)   (1,945,933) 

Profit before taxation  1,329,988   2,498,290 
Taxation 20 (534,993)   (698,985) 

Profit after taxation  794,995   1,799,305 

 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 
 Year ended 
 30 September 
 Note 2021 2020 
   $ $ 
 
Profit for the year   794,995  1,799,305 
 
Change in fair value of other comprehensive income, 
  net of tax 14  (1,026,120)  (299,835) 
 
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax   (1,026,120)  (299,835) 
 
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (231,125)  1,499,470 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 
    Total 
 Share Retained Fair value shareholders’ 
 capital earnings reserves equity 
 $ $ $ $ 
 
Balance at 1 October 2020  5,000,000 12,635,634 3,472,032 21,107,666 
 
Prof it for the year  -- 794,995 -- 794,995 
Other comprehensive income  -- -- (1,026,120) (1,026,120) 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -- 794,995 (1,026,120) (231,125) 
 
Transactions with owners 

Ordinary dividends paid  -- -- -- -- 
 
 
Balance at 30 September 2021  5,000,000 13,430,629 2,445,912 20,876,541 
 
 
Balance at 1 October 2019  5,000,000 10,836,329 3,771,867 19,608,196 
 
Prof it for the year  -- 1,799,305 -- 1,799,305 
Other comprehensive income  -- -- (299,835) (299,835) 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -- 1,799,305 (299,835) 1,499,470 
 
Transactions with owners 

Ordinary dividends paid  -- -- -- -- 
 
 
Balance at 30 September 2020  5,000,000 12,635,634 3,472,032 21,107,666 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

  
 Year ended 

30 September 
  Note 2021  2020 
  $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Prof it before taxation  1,329,989  2,498,290 
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash      
f rom operating activities:     
Depreciation  85,977  88,031 
Fair value loss on financial assets  20,819  19,359 
Loss on disposal of financial assets  2  -- 
Income taxes paid  (590,081)  (381,792) 

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities  846,706  2,223,888 

Net change in other debtors and prepayments  (610,149)  (213,237) 
Net change in payables and other liabilities  9,220  (2,578,464) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  245,777  (567,813) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipment  (8,271)  -- 
Net change in short term investments  (75,828)  (93,690) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (84,099)  (93,690) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     
Ordinary dividends paid  --  -- 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  --  -- 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent   161,678  (661,503) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  13,413,448  14,074,951 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  13,575,126  13,413,448 

     

Represented by:     
Cash at bank 5 12,848,366  12,695,753 
Short term investments - maturity within three months 5 726,760  717,695 

Cash and cash equivalents  13,575,126  13,413,448 

 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1 General information 
 

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited (the Company) is incorporated in the Republic 
of  Trinidad and Tobago and its principal business includes dealing in securities on the Trinidad and 
Tobago Stock Exchange and such other business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the 
Securities Industry Act 1995 of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. 

Ef fective 1 October 2011, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) assumed control of the 
Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a 64.43% 
controlling interest in First Citizens Bank Limited (the Bank) which is owned by the Government of the 
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). The remainder of the Bank’s shares are listed on the 
Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are publicly traded. 

The Company’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair,  Port of Spain. 
 
 
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
a. Basis of preparation 

 
These f inancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS. These financial statements comply with IFRS as issued b y the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The f inancial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of freehold premises and financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss and financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 
applying the Company’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by the 

Company in the accounting period 
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material (Effective 1 January 2020). The 
amendments in Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) clarify the 
def inition of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and the 
standards. 

 
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Effective 

1 January 2020). The amendments in Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to 
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) clarify that entities would continue to apply certain hedge 
accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged 
cash f lows and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a 
result of interest rate benchmark reform.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by 
the Company in the accounting period (continued) 

 

• Amendment to IFRS 3 –Amendments in Definition of a Business (Effective 1 January 
2020). The amendments are changes to Appendix A Defined Terms, the application 
guidance, and illustrative examples of IFRS are:- 
o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets 

must include, at a minimum, an input and substantive process that together 
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs 

o narrow the def initions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and 
services provided to customers and by removing the reference to an ability to 
reduce costs; 

o  add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a 
substantive process has been acquired; 

o  remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing 
any missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs; and 

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. 

 

• Amendments to IFRS 16- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Effective 1 June 
2020). The amendment provides lessees with an exemption from assessing whether 
a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. 

 
The adoption of the above standards has had no material impact on the Company’s 
Financial Statements. 

 
(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 

effective and have not been early adopted by the Company  

• Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before intended 

use (Ef fective 1 January 2022). The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of 
an item of  property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced 
while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of  operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises 
the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit 
or loss. 

 
• Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts-Cost of fulfilling a contract (Effective 1 

January 2022). The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract 
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a 
contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be 
direct labour, materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 
contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item 
of  property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 

 

• Amendment to IFRS 3 –Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Effective 1 
January 2022). The amendments update an outdated reference to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS 3 without significantly changing the requirements in the standard. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the Company (continued) 

 
• Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Effective 

1 January 2023). The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the 
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of financial 
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified 
as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current. 

 
• Amendments IAS1, IAS 39 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 –Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies (Effective 1 January 2023). The amendments require that an entity discloses 
its material accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies. Further 
amendments explain how an entity can identify a material accounting policy. Examples 
of  when an accounting policy is likely to be material are added. To support the 
amendment, the Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and 
demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS 
Practice Statement 2. 
 

• Amendment to IAS 8 –Definition of Accounting Estimates (Effective 1 January 2023). 
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a 
def inition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are 
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items 
in f inancial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement 
uncertainty. The amendments clarify that a change in accounting estimate that results 
f rom new information or new developments is not the correction of an error.  

 
• Amendments to IAS 12- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction (Effective 1 June 2023). The amendments clarify that the initial 
recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal amounts of 
deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. 
 

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards 
not yet effective on the Financial Statements. We do not anticipate any material impact. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

b. Foreign currency translation 
 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The 
f inancial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. The exchange rate between the TT dollar and the US 
dollar as at the date of these statements was TT$6.6926 = US$1.00 (2020: TT$6.7124 = 
US$1.00), which represent the Company’s mid-rate. 

 
(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
f rom the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of  monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
statement of income. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between translation differences 
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying 
amount of security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are 
recognised in the profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary items such as equities 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets are included in 
other comprehensive income. 

 
c. Cash and due from banks 

 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash     
balances on hand, deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less when purchased. 

 
d. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
(i) Financial assets 

 
The Company classifies its financial assets based on the following business models:  
• Hold to collect and sell 

• Hold for trading 

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its assets into one of the following three 
measurement categories: 
 
Amortised cost 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)), and that are no t designated at FVPL are 
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected 
credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest income from 
these f inancial assets – cash and due from banks are included in “Interest income” using the 
ef fective interest rate method. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
  (i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and that are 
not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition 
of  impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the 
instrument’s amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from 
equity to profit and loss and recognized in “Net Investment Income”.  Financial assets in this 
category include unlisted equity instruments that are held for investment. 

 
Fair value through profit or loss 
 
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or 
loss and presented in the  Statement of Income within “Gains on investments securities” in the 
period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were classified at fair value 
or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment Interest 
Income. Financial assets in this category includes listed equity instruments that are held for 
investment. 

 
Company’s Business model 
 
The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash 
f lows. An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors such as: 

• The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice. More 
specifically whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows 
f rom the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from 
the sale of  the assets.  

• Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected. 
• Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to key 

management personnel. 
• Managements identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not limited 

to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk. 
• Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and forecasted 

liquidity requirements. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
  (i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Company’s Business model (continued) 
 
Arising out of the assessment, the portfolios were deemed to have the business models 
identified as follows: 

 
Hold to collect and sell Hold for trading 

Equities recognise in OCI Equity Investments 

 
Impairment 
 
The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) 
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising 
f rom loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Company recognises a loss 
allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:  

(i) An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of  
possible outcomes; 

(ii) The time value of money; and 

(iii) Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of  future economic 
conditions. 

(iv) Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 
  

Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 
 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely 
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test).  In making this assessment, the Company 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement 
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic 
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the 
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic 
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through 
prof it or loss. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s 
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that 
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include 
ordinary shares. 

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, 
except where the Company’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably 
designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 
Equity instruments (continued) 
 
The Company’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments 
are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, 
fair value and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and 
reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 
 
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in 
prof it or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established. 
 
Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Statement of 
Income. 
 

(ii) Financial liabilities 
 
(a) Classification and subsequent measurement 

 
Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost.  

 
(b) Derecognition 

 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). 
 
The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with 
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing 
f inancial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability 
and the recognition of a new f inancial liability. The terms are substantially different if the 
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid 
net of  any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at 
least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the 
original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that 
the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion 
features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into 
consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted 
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or 
loss on the extinguishment. 
 
If  the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or 
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the 
remaining term of the modified liability. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

e. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 
f . Offsetting financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
f inancial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and 
accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest method. 

 
g. Determination of fair value 

 For f inancial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of financial 
assets and liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.  

 A f inancial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry Group, pricing service or regulatory 
agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market transactions on an arm’s 
length basis. If  the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. Indicators 
that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the 
bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions. When a market becomes inactive, the 
valuation technique is the Company’s internally developed model which is based on discounted 
cash f low analysis.  

 For all other f inancial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these 
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar f inancial 
instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other 
valuation techniques using input existing at the year end. 

 The Company uses an internally developed model which is generally consistent with other 
valuation models used in the industry. Valuation models are used to value unlisted debt securities 
and other debt securities for which the market has become or is illiquid. Some of the inputs of this 
model may not be market observable and are therefore based on assumptions (see note 4.b.).  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 h. Lease transactions  
   

For all new contracts entered into on or after 1 October 2019, the Company assesses whether a 
contract is, or contains a lease.  A lease is defined as “a contract that conveys the right-of-use an 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration”. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right-of-use of an asset, the Company assesses whether: 
 
• the contract contains an identified assets, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 

implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Company 
• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the 

assets through the period of use 
• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset throughout the period of use. The 

Company has this right when it has the rights to direct “how and for what purpose” the asset 
is used. 

 
(i) The Company as the lessee 

 
Until the 2019 f inancial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as 
either f inance leases or operating leases.  From 1 October 2019, the Company recognises 
leases as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Company. The right of use is initially measured at the cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, any initial direct cost incurred, an estimate 
of  any cost to dismantle and remove the asset or to restore the asset and less any lease 
incentive received. 

 
The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of  the lease term.  The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on 
the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment.  The Company also assess the 
right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exists. 

 
The Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, which is 
the Repos rate. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease 
payments:- 
 
• f ixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentive 
• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 

index or rate at the commencement date 
• amount expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees 
• the exercise price under a purchase option, if the Company is reasonably certain to 

exercise that option 
• lease payments in an optional renewal period, if the Company is reasonable certain to 

exercise 
• penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company 

exercising this option 
 
Payments associated with short-term leases and all low-value assets are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expenses in the Statement of Income.  Short-term leases are leases 
with a term of  twelve (12) months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small 
items of office furniture. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
h. Lease transactions (continued) 

 
  (ii) The Company as the lessor 

 
 When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments 

is recognised as a receivable.  The difference between the gross receivable and the 
present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income.  Lease 
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before 
tax), which ref lects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the 
asset for each period. 
 
There were no Finance leases operating leases recognised by the company at the 
Statement of Financial Position date.  

 
i. Other debtors and prepayments 

 
Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances 
and related parties.  These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

 
j. Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will f low to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Income during the financial period 
in which they are incurred. 

 
Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land. 
 
The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to 
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows: 
 
Equipment and furniture 4-5 years 
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years 
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease 
 
The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.  
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

k. Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations, 
computer software licenses and other intangible assets.  Intangible assets are recognised at 
cost.  The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at 
the date of acquisition.  Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the 
straight line method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be 
consumed, generally not exceeding 20 years.  Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
are not amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are 
reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits.  If  
such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying 
amount is fully recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. 
 
The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
 
(i) Other Intangible assets 
 

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from 
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of 
intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future 
economic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use.  The value of 
intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined 
using income approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method.  

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for 
impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any.  They are amortised over their 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash 
f low. 

 
(ii) Computer software 
 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.  However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of 
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is 
recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.  
Computer software development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria 
are met: 

• It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it. 
• Management intends to complete the software and use it. 
• There an ability to use the software. 
• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 

to use it. 
• The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably 

measured. 

The sof tware development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their 
useful lives but not exceeding a period of three (3) years. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

l. Employee benefits 
 

(i) Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan 
 

First Citizens Bank operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines 
an amount of pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and 
compensation.  This pension plan is funded by payments from employees and by the 
Bank, taking account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.  

The Bank's defined benefit plan operates as a plan which shares risks among 
subsidiaries of the Group which are under common control.  The Bank's policy is to 
recognise the net defined benefit cost of the plan in the separate financial statements of 
First Citizens Bank Limited, the entity which is legally considered the sponsoring 
employer of the plan. The Bank recognises a cost equal to its contribution payable for 
its employees in its separate financial statements.  

The liability or asset is recognised in the Bank’s Statement of financial position.  In 
respect of the defined benefit pension plan, as at September 2021, the defined benefit 
pension plan asset represented the fair value of the plan’s asset less the present value 
of  the obligation at the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The Company’s contribution to the plan amounted to TT$110,487 (2020: TT$82,363) 
(see note 19) which is recharged by the Bank and settled through the intercompany 
settlement monthly. The liability is carried by the Bank. 
 

(ii) Profit sharing and bonus plans 
 
The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit -sharing, 
based on a formula that takes into consideration the Company’s profit before taxation. 
The Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a 
past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
 

(iii) Employee stock option plan 
 
The Bank operates a cash-settled share based remuneration plan for its employees.  A 
liability is recognised for the fair value of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is 
measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, 
with changes in the fair value recognised in the Statement of Income. The fair value is 
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding 
liability. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

m. Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of  past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class 
of  the obligation as a whole.  A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of  money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 
 

n. Payables and other liabilities 
 
Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business 
related expenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is 
expected within one year.  Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
net of  transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs. 
 

o. Income taxes 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
Statement of Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis 
of  amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
af fects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of 
f inancial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
p. Fee and commission income  

 
IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that 
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The performance 
obligations are very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client 
accounts, private placements, equity fees and commissions. 
 
Fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the service has been provided. 
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a 
transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other 
securities or the purchase or sale of businesses are recognised at a point in time on 
completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and 
service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts usually on a time 
apportioned basis, which is normally on a monthly billing cycle at a point in time.  
 
Brokerage & Advisory fees are generally recognized at a point in time upon full completion of 
the scope of works to the contract, however, for Initial Public Offerings and services of that 
nature the performance obligation may be specific to the stage of completion of the services 
performance obligation. In addition, some contracts may require variation to the performance 
obligation based on the client specifications. These contracts would qualify for revenue 
recognition over time.  
 

q. Investment management fees 
 

From October 2011, management fees related to the provision of portfolio and other 
management advisory services are recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level 
Agreement between the Company and its parent which is reviewed annually. This agreement 
covers the provision of the advisory services. 
 

r. Interest income and expense 
 

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the Statement of Income for all interest 
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on the initial 
carrying amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and 
deposits.  

The ef fective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) 
or the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit 
losses and include transaction cost, premium, discounts and fees and point paid or received 
that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. 
 
Once a f inancial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result 
of  an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cashflows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.  
 

s. Dividend income 
 
Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Company's right to receive 
payment is established. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
t. Dividend distribution 
 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are 
approved by the Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year- 
end, are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable. 
 

u. Fiduciary activities 
 

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or 
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other 
institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial 
statements, as they are not assets of the Company. 

  



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

30 September 2021 
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars) 

 

(24) 

3 Financial risk management 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the 
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. 
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable 
consequence of being in business. The Company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate 
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial 
performance. 
 
The Company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of 
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management 
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 
 
Risk management framework 
 
The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Group) has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.  To assist the Board of 
Directors in fulfilling its duties, two Board sub-committees were established at the First Citizens 
Group level to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First 
Citizens Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit 
Committee, and one management level committee - Asset Liability Committee. 

 
The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer, reports to 
both sub-committees of the Board.  They are responsible for the management, measurement, 
monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Group through the Group 
Operational Risk & Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk Management Unit, Group Market Risk Unit and 
Group Business Continuity Planning Unit. The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit reports into 
the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee to allow monitoring of the adherence to risk 
limits and the impact of developments in the aforementioned risk areas on strategy and how 
strategy should be varied in light of the developments. 

 
The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and 
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates and other factors that can affect the Group’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to 
acceptable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and 
liabilities across the Bank and the Group’s various companies via the Group’s Treasury and 
International Trade Centre. The Group Treasury and International Trade Centre’s primary role and 
responsibility is to actively manage the Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also 
supported in some specific areas of activity by the Bank’s Market Risk Committee.  
 
As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as 
well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
f inancial instruments.  In addition, the Group Internal Audit Department is responsible for the 
independent review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and 
recommendation to the Board Audit Committee. 
 
The Board of Directors of the FCIS Group has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the FCIS Group’s risk management framework.  The Board of FCIS has also 
established a Risk Management Committee (RMC) which oversees the risk management function 
of  the FCIS Group. 
 
The most important types of risk are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. Market risk includes 
currency risk, interest rate and other price risk. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

a. Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will cause a f inancial loss for the Company by failing to 
discharge an obligation.  The Company generally does not provide advances to customers nor 
does it invest in debt securities. As a result, its exposure to credit risk is limited to other registered 
brokers and client accounts that are substantively supported by underlying securities.  At 30 
September 2021, the Company had no financial assets which were either impaired or past due. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

 
Credit risk exposure relating to on-statement of financial position assets are as follows: 

    
 Gross 

maximum 
exposure 

 Gross 
maximum 
exposure 

 2021 
$ 

 2020 
$ 

Cash and due f rom banks  19,243,745  19,006,239 
Other debtors  1,153,478  531,957 

 20,397,223  19,538,196 

 
The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Company as at 30 
September 2021 and 30 September 2020, without taking account of any collateral held or other 
credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out above are based on gross carrying amounts 
before impairment. There are no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position 
items. 

As shown above, the total maximum exposure derived from cash and due from banks and 
receivables is 100% (September 2020: 100%). 

Included in other debtors, the Company’s exposure to credit risk is the outstanding amounts due 
f rom clients and brokerage companies which are settled within three working days following month 
end.  

(i) Expected credit loss measurement 
 

IFRS9 outlines a ‘three stage’ model; for impairment based on changes in credit quality. 
 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets): 

 

Change in credit quality since initial recognition 
 
 

    

   

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

(initial Recognition) 
(Significant increase in 

credit risk) (Credit - impaired assets) 

   
12 month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit 

losses 
Lifetime expected credit 

losses 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

a. Credit risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Definition of default and credit-impaired assets 
 

The FCB Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with 
the def inition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria: 
 
Quantitative criteria 
 
The customer is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. 
 
Qualitative criteria 
 
The customer meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the customer is in 
significant financial difficulty. These are instances where: 
 

• The customer formally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of 

foreclosure proceedings. 

• The obligation is classified doubtful or worse as per the Group’s classification 

process. 

• A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not 

normally be considered is executed 
 

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Company 
and are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management 
purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability 
of  Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout 
the Company’s expected loss calculations. 

 
(iii) Risk limit control and mitigation policy 

 
The Company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing time limits on 
the processing of equity transactions in addition to assessing the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to any specific client. 
 
The Company employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The 
most common of these is securing client funds in advance for the processing of equity 
transactions.  
 

(iv) Write-off policy 
 
The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all 
practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery.  
 
The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement 
activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year 
ended 30 September 2021 was Nil (2020: Nil). The Company still seeks to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no 
reasonable expectation of full recovery. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
b. Market risk 

 
The Company takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash f lows of a f inancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
Market risks arise from open positions in equity products which are exposed to general and 
specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of equity prices. The 
Company separates exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios. 
 
The main market risk is price risk which is associated with equity financial instruments held in 
other comprehensive income. These prices are determined using an internal valuation and 
are disclosed in level 3 (see note 3.g.ii). These prices are assessed annually via the Group’s 
Pricing Committee. 
 
As at 30 September 2021, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk 
represented 28% (September 2020: 29%). 
 
(i) Currency risk sensitivity 

 
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.  As at 30 September 2021, 
the Company had 23% cash and due from banks (September 2020: 33%) and 0% liabilities 
(September 2020: 35%) denominated in a foreign currency. 
 
Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2021 the effect of a 2.5% 
depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the respective currencies is as follows: 

 

 USD 

 $ 
At 30 September 2021  
Loss (109,021) 
  
At 30 September 2020  
Loss (112,968) 
  
The ef fect of a 2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the US dollar 
would reduce profit after tax by 14% (2020: 6%). 
 
The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk in the following table illustrates how changes in 
the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.  For the sensitivity 
analysis, a 5% movement in USD to TTD exchange rates was used for 30 September 2021 
and 30 September 2020. 

 
 Effects on shareholders’ equity 
 Year ended Year ended 
 30 September 2021 30 September 2020 
 + 5% - 5% + 5% - 5% 
 $ $ $ $ 

 
Effects on shareholders’ equity 223,493  (223,493) 231,584  (231,584) 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

b. Market risk (continued) 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the Company not to 
engage in speculative foreign exchange activities. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure 
by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are monitored periodically. The Company 
does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency risk. The Company’s 
strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and sell high; establish relationships with corporate 
foreign exchange earners; limit foreign exchange exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to 
keep a balanced position; and match foreign currency denominated assets with foreign currency 
denominated liabilities.  The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to foreign 
currency exchange rate risk at September. Included in the table are the Company’s financial 
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. 

 

 
 

  

At September 30 2021 TT US Other Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Assets     
Cash and due f rom banks 14,826,965 4,308,628 108,152 19,243,745 
Financial assets     
- Fair value through other 
    comprehensive income 3,604,560 -- -- 3,604,560 
- Fair value through profit or loss 184 178,839 -- 179,023 
Other assets & receivables 1,153,478 -- -- 1,153,478 

Total 19,585,187 4,487,467 108,152 24,180,806 

     
Liabilities     
Other liabilities and accrued expenses 4,633,490 17,599 -- 4,651,089 

Total liabilities 4,633,490 17,599 -- 4,651,089 
Net on-balance sheet financial position 14,951,697 4,469,868 108,152 19,529,717 

At September 30 2020 TT US Other Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Assets     
Cash and due f rom banks 12,746,845 6,151,462 107,932 19,006,239 
Financial assets     
- Fair value through other 
    comprehensive income 5,174,465 -- -- 5,174,465 
- Fair value through profit or loss 210 126,818 -- 127,028 
Other assets & receivables 530,020 1,937 -- 531,957 

Total 18,451,540 6,280,217 107,932 24,839,689 
     
Liabilities     
Other liabilities and accrued expenses 2,993,591 1,648,539 (2,070) 4,640,060 

Total liabilities  2,993,591 1,648,539 (2,070) 4,640,060 
Net on-balance sheet financial position 15,457,949 4,631,678 110,002 20,199,629 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

b. Market risk (continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income resulting 
f rom changes in interest rates and mismatches in the re-pricing between interest rate 
sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows 
of  a f inancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value 
interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company takes on exposure to the effects of 
f luctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow 
risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce 
resulting in losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Company’s objective 
in the management of its interest rate risk is to reduce the sensitivity of its earnings and 
overall portfolio value to fluctuations in the interest rate. The table below summarises the 
Company’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Company’s financial instruments at 
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

 

Interest rate maturities  
Up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

Non-interest 
Bearing Total 

At 30 September 2021 $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets      
Cash and due f rom banks 1,191,595 726,760 5,668,619 11,656,771 19,243,745 
Other assets & receivables  -- -- -- 1,153,478 1,153,478 
      
Total assets 1,191,595 726,760 5,668,619 12,810,249 20,397,223 
      
Liabilities      
Other liabilities and accrued expenses -- -- -- 4,651,089 4,651,089 
      
Total liabilities -- -- -- 4,651,089 4,651,089 
      
Net 1,191,595 726,760 5,668,619 8,159,160 15,746,134 

 

Interest rate maturities  
Up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 

Non-
interest 
Bearing Total 

At 30 September 2020 $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets      
Cash and due f rom banks 1,513,040 717,695 5,592,791 11,182,713 19,006,239 
Other assets & receivables -- -- -- 531,957 531,957 
 
Total  1,513,040 717,695 5,592,791 11,714,670 19,538,196 

      

Liabilities      

Other liabilities and accrued expenses -- -- -- 4,640,060 4,640,060 
 
Total -- -- -- 4,640,060 4,640,060 

Net 1,513,040 717,695 5,592,791 7,074,610 14,898,136 

 
If  interest rates were to move by 1% the impact on net interest income will be $897 (2020: $974)  
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

c. Price risk 
 

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a f inancial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments 
traded in the market.  The Company is affected by changing prices of equity instruments mainly 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income securities with fair value movements 
recognised in shareholders’ equity.  The impact of the change in prices for equity instruments 
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income was a reduction in the fair value 
reserve TTD1.5M. 
 
The sensitivity analysis for price risk below illustrates how changes in the fair value of the future 
cash f lows of a f inancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes to prices at the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
For the sensitivity analysis, a 10% movement in prices was used for 30 September 2021 and 30 
September 2020: (10%). 
 

 Effects on profit before tax 
 Year ended Year ended 
 30 September 2021 30 September 2020 
 + 10% - 10% + 10% - 10% 
 $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets: 
- Fair value through   360,456  (360,456)  517,447  (517,447) 
  comprehensive income: 
- Fair value through profit or loss 17,902  (17,902)  12,703  (12,703) 

 
d. Liquidity risk 

 
The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash 
or its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall due 
under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The 
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows 
are generally settled within three to thirty days.  
 

e. Off-statement of financial position items 
 

(i) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 

As of 30 September 2021, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial 
facilities that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (2020: nil). 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

f . Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 

(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets 
presented on the statement of financial position at an amount other than their fair value.  

 
 Carrying value Fair value 

 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets     

Cash and due f rom banks 19,243,745 19,006,239 19,243,745 19,006,239 

Other debtors’ 1,153,478 531,957 1,153,478 531,957 

 20,397,223 19,538,196 20,397,223 19,538,196 

Financial liabilities     

Other liabilities 4,651,089 4,640,060 4,651,089 4,640,060 
 

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are determined in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. 
 
Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value 
 
Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial 
instruments approximate their fair values. 

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include cash 
and due f rom banks and other debtors. 
 
Cash and due from banks 
 
This amount represents short term deposits and bank balances. The fair value of these short 
term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount. 
 
Receivables 
 
Receivables are net of provisions for impairment.  The estimated fair value of receivables 
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.  
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. As at the 
date of these financial statements, the ECL for the receivables is nil.  
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

f . Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued) 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to 
these valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  Observable inputs ref lect 
market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the 
Company’s market assumptions.  These two types of inputs have created the 
following fair value hierarchy: 
 
• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities. 

• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices).  This level includes debt instruments. 

• Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs).  This level includes equity investments and 
debt instruments with significant unobservable components. 
 

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at 

fair value at: 

 

As at 30 September 2021 

 Level 1 
$ 

Level 2 
$ 

Level 3 
$ 

Total 
$ 

- Fair value through other   
    comprehensive income -- -- 3,604,560 3,604,560 
- Fair value through profit and loss 179,023 -- -- 179,023 

Total 179,023 -- 3604,560 3,783,583 

 
As at 30 September 2020 

 Level 1 
$ 

Level 2 
$ 

Level 3 
$ 

Total 
$ 

- Fair value through other   
    comprehensive income -- -- 5,174,465 5,174,465 
- Fair value through profit and loss 127,028 -- -- 127,028  

Total 127,028 -- 5,174,465 5,301,493  
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

g. Capital management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 
‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position are: 

 
• To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets 

where the Company operates; 

• To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored by the Company’s 
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required 
information is filed with the Authority on a quarterly basis as required. 
 
The Authority requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory 
capital of five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. The Company complied with all of the 
externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject for the periods ending 30 
September 2021 and 30 September 2020. 
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 
 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future.  The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below: 

 
a. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): 

The Company uses the discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of Financial 
Assets through other comprehensive income not traded in active markets. The discounted 
cash f low method discounts the cash-flows of the financial assets at an appropriate yield plus 
a credit spread where applicable.  
 
The Company’s financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income represents 
equity shares held for investments. The share price is determined using the Dividend 
Discount Model (DDM), which values a share’s price based on its predicted future dividend 
payments and discounting them back to present value. An average dividend is used over a 
ten-year period to mitigate against fluctuation in the annual dividends. The cost of equity is 
determined using the cost of equity for the US market and adjusting it by a country risk 
premium. The expected growth rate is calculated using a ten-year trend of return of equity by 
the pay-out ratio for the dividends received.  
 
Equity financial instruments which use the discounted cash-flow method mentioned above, 
resulted in a mark to market impact on the statement of financial position valued at TT$3.5M 
(2020: TT$5.1M). 
 
If  the cost of equity was to move by 1%, the price of the shares will fall to $26.23 resulting in 
a $6.41 price reduction. The impact to the statement of financial position would be TT$0.7M. 

 
b. Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

 
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for debt securities measured at 
amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant 
assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of 
customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and 
estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.a.v, which also sets 
out key sensitivities of the ECL to changes in these elements. 
 
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements 
for measuring ECL, such as: 
 
• Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each 

type of product/market and the associated ECL; and 
• Establishing groups of similar f inancial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 
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5 Cash and due from Banks 

 2021  2020 
 $  $ 

    

Cash at bank 12,848,366  12,695,753 

Short term investments 6,395,379  6,310,486 

 19,243,745  19,006,239 

 

 2021  2020 
 $  $ 

Short-term investments:    

- Maturity within 3 months 726,760  717,695 

- Maturity over 3 months 5,668,619  5,592,791 

 6,395,379  6,310,486 

 
The average ef fective interest rate on short-term deposits was 1.28% for the year ended September 2021 
(2020: 1.49%); these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days (2020: 90 days). The average 
ef fective interest rate on investments with a maturity of over 3 months is 1.33% (2020: 1.57%). 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow: 
 
    
Due f rom banks 12,848,366  12,695,753 
Short-term investments – maturity within three months 726,760  717,695 

Cash and cash equivalents 13,575,126  13,413,448 

 
 
6 Financial assets through other comprehensive income 

2021  2020 
$  $ 

    
Unlisted 3,604,560  5,174,465 

 3,604,560  5,174,465 

 
The movement in f inancial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income may be 
summarised as follows: 

 
At beginning of year  5,174,465  5,602,800 
Loss from changes in fair value  (1,680,305)  (428,335) 

Reclassification of MTM on FVOCI equities 110,400  -- 

At end of year 3,604,560  5,174,465 
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7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

    
Listed equity securities 179,023  127,028 

 
 
The movement in f inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows: 
 

At beginning of year 127,028  146,386 
Disposals --  -- 
Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value (Note 17) 51,995  (19,358) 

At end of year 179,023  127,028 

 
The above securities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance 
with a documented risk management strategy, and information about the groups of financial instruments 
is reported to management on that basis. 

 
 
8 Other debtors and prepayments 
 

Due f rom brokers 1,133,174 
 

517,787 
Due f rom clients 459  7 
Other debtors 19,845  14,163 
Prepayments 98,022  109,265 

 1,251,500  641,222 

 
 
9 Intangible assets 
 

The Company purchased 10 Class “A” shares in the TTSE in 2001. This purchase gave the Company 
the right to conduct brokerage operations on the TTSE. In 2012, these shares were converted to 
110,400 ordinary shares due to a restructuring at the TTSE. The cost of the right obtained is presented 
as an intangible asset. Although there is no active market for the right, the intangible asset is reviewed 
annually for impairment. Intangible asset to 30 September 2021 $848,571 (2020: $848,571). 
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10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
Computer 
equipment  

Office 
equipment, 
furniture & 

motor vehicles Total 
 $ $ $ 

Year ended 30 September 2021    

Opening net book value 1,640 137,508 139,148 
Additions 8,271 -- 8,271 
Disposals (21,854) -- (21,854) 
Depreciation on disposals 21,852 -- 21,852 
Depreciation charge (3,472) (82,505) (85,977) 

Closing net book value 6,437 55,003 61,440 

    

At 30 September 2021    

Cost 19,665 330,019 349,684 

Accumulated depreciation (13,228) (275,016) (288,244) 

Net book value 6,437 55,003 61,440 

    

Year ended 30 September 2020    

Opening net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179 
Additions -- -- -- 
Disposals -- -- -- 
Depreciation on disposals -- -- -- 
Depreciation charge (5,527) (82,504) (88,031) 

Closing net book value 1,640 137,508 139,148 

    

At 30 September 2020    

Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267 

Accumulated depreciation (31,608) (192,511) (224,119) 

Net book value 1,640 137,508 139,148 

    

At 30 September 2019    

Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267 
Accumulated depreciation (26,081) (110,007) (136,088) 

Net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179 
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11 Payables and other liabilities 
 2021  2020 
 $  $ 
    
Due to brokers 225,094  295,439 
Other liabilities 1,034,911  500,319 
Amount due to clients 1,117,307  510,697 
Equity settlement 1,752,685  2,883,431 
Due to related parties 521,092  451,983 

 4,651,089  4,641,869 

  
 Amounts due to brokers and clients will be settled within 3 days after the financial period end.  
 
 
12 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
 

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of  30%. 

 
The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

 

    
    
    
At beginning of year 1,315,872  1,435,393 
Statement of income charge (Note 20) 184,996  8,980 
Fair value reserve (Note 14)     (504,092)  (128,501) 

At end of year 996,776  1,315,872 
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12 Deferred income tax assets (continued) 
 

 

Opening balance 
1 October  

2020 
Fair value 
reserve 

Charged to 
statement of 

income 

Closing 
balance 

30 September  
2021 

Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss (169,335) -- 169,335 -- 
Accelerated tax depreciation (65,796) -- (1,275) (67,071) 

Deferred income tax asset (235,131) -- 168,060 (67,071) 

     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Prior period change in tax 147,485 (147,485) -- -- 
Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss -- -- 15,599 15,599 
Financial assets at fair value 
  through other comprehensive  

income 1,403,518 (356,607) 1,337 1,048,248 

Deferred income tax liability 1,551,003 (504,092) 16,936 1,063,847 

Net deferred income tax liability 1,315,872 (504,092) 184,996 996,776 

 
 

 

Opening balance 
1 October  

2019 
Fair value 
reserve 

Charged to 
statement of 

income 

Closing 
balance 

30 September 
2020 

Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets at fair value 
  through the profit or loss (160,560) -- (8,775) (169,335) 
Accelerated tax depreciation (83,551) -- 17,755 (65,796) 

Deferred income tax asset (244,111) -- 8,980 (235,131) 

     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Prior period change in tax 147,485 -- -- 147,485 
Financial assets at fair value 
  through other comprehensive                                           
  income 1,532,019 (128,501) -- 1,403,518 

Deferred income tax liability 1,679,504 (128,501) -- 1,551,003 

Net deferred income tax liability 1,435,393 (128,501) 8,980 1,315,872 
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13 Share capital 2021 2020 
  $ $ 

Authorised 
An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value 

Issued and fully paid 

5,000,000 ordinary shares of no par 5000,000  5,000,000 

 
 
14 Fair value reserve 

Fair value through other comprehensive income 2,445,912  3,472,032 

 
Fair value through other comprehensive income    

At beginning of year 3,472,032  3,771,867 

Net losses from changes in fair value (1,680,306)  (428,336) 
Deferred tax credit (Note 12) 504,092  128,501 
Other movements 150,094  -- 

At end of year 2,445,912  3,472,032 

 
 
15 Brokerage fee and commission income 
 

Equity commissions TTD 2,754,347  2,575,425 

Equity commissions USD 35,113  175,849 

 2,789,460  2,751,274 

 
 
16 Brokerage fee and commission expense 
 

Commission sharing expenses 1,077,531  1,157,826 

Commission rebate 55,790  55,025 

Compensation fund contribution 55,790  55,025 

 1,189,111  1,267,876 

 
 
17 Unrealised loss on financial assets 

Unrealised loss on financial assets (20,819)  (19,359) 

 (20,819)  (19,359) 
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18 Fees, commission and other income 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
 

Interest income 89,701  97,432 
Fees and commissions 2,363,134  2,601,266 
Net foreign exchange loss (12,908)  (9,972) 

 2,439,927  2,688,726 

 
Included within fees and commissions are application, processing and sub-distribution fees earned 
for services provided relating to capital market and structuring transactions. 

 
 
19 Operating expenses 
 

Staf f costs  918,815  903,950 
Other expenses 1,204,012  450,306 
Depreciation 85,977  88,031 
Computer operating expenses 100,120  77,191 
Audit fees 176,597  153,563 
Legal and professional fees 76,235  74,380  
Travel and entertainment 51,895  62,994 
Directors emoluments 134,415  134,415 
Capital market expenses --  1,103 

 2,748,066  1,945,933 

  
Included in other expenses is $0.6M which represents operational losses which have been incurred 
within the f inancial year (2020: $0.1M). 

 
Staff costs 

Wages and salaries 700,226  694,387 
National insurance 28,725  28,725 
Bonus and commissions 70,360  90,770 
Health plan expense 9,017  7,330 
Pension plan expense 110,487  82,363 
Staf f training --  375 

 918,815  903,950 

 
The number of permanently employed staff as at the year-end was 2 (2020: 2). 
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20 Taxation 2021 2020 
  $ $ 

Deferred tax (Note 12) 184,996   8,980 
Corporation tax 383,119   690,005 
Prior year (over) provision (33,122)   -- 

 534,993   698,985 

 
The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the basic rate of tax as follows: 

Prof it before tax  1,329,989  2,498,290 

    

Tax calculated at 30% 398,996  749,487 
Income exempt from tax (116,410)  (91,775) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 100,533  32,293 
Net ef fect of other charges and allowances 184,996  8,980 
Prior year (over) provision (33,122)  -- 

 534,993  698,985 

 
 
21 Related party transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.  The parent of the 
Company as at 30 September 2021 was First Citizens Investment Services Limited. First Citizens 
Investment Services Limited is incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago with its ultimate parent company 
being First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad 
and Tobago (GORTT).  A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal 
course of business.  These generally relate to purchase and sale of shares on behalf of related parties. 
 

 Directors  
Related 

companies 

 
30 

September 
30 

September 
30 

September 
30 

September 
 2021 2020 2021 2020 

 $ $ $ $ 

Statement of income     

Fees and commission income -- -- 79,986 85,859 

Salaries and other short-term 
employee benefits (134,415) (134,415) -- -- 

 (134,415) (134,415) 79,986 85,859 

     
Statement of financial position 

amounts due (to)/from     

Cash and due f rom banks -- -- 18,408,729 18,180,507 

Payables and other liabilities -- -- (521,092) (451,983) 

 -- -- 17,887,637 17,728,524 
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22 Commitments 
 

The Company has no capital or credit commitments as at 30 September 2021 (2020: nil). 
 
 
23 Contingent liabilities 
 

The Company is not involved in any claims and counterclaims arising from the conduct of its business. 
 
 
24 Subsequent events 
 

There were no events after the Statement of financial position date which were material to the financial 
statements and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statements or disclosures when the 
f inancial statements were authorised for issue. 




